RECEIVED

Jan 25 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000346

Reid Fleming,.....Appellant,

v.

LG Chem, Ltd.,.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854
P.O. Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
803.943.4529
kbarnes@barneslawfirm.com

RICHARDSON, THOMAS,
HALTIWANGER, MOORE & LEWIS
Chris Moore, SC Bar No. 77934
1513 Hampton Street
Columbia, SC 29201
803.281.8147
Chris@richardsonthomas.com

SMITH & GRIFFITH, LLP
John Griffith
1102 North Main Street
Anderson, South Carolina 29621

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the lower court incorrectly held Fleming did not establish a prima facie showing of specific personal jurisdiction in the complaint?
- II. Whether the lower court incorrectly focused on evidence of whether LG served a consumer standalone market for the specific size 18650 lithium-ion battery and, regardless, whether there is contested evidence of LG's market activities?
- III. Whether the lower court incorrectly held that LG's lithium-ion battery imports and sales in South Carolina do not support specific jurisdiction?
- IV. Whether the lower court incorrectly held the stream of commerce theory does not support the exercise of specific jurisdiction over LG?
- V. Whether the lower court incorrectly held that Fleming did not satisfy the fairness prong?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order dismissing a product liability action for lack of specific personal jurisdiction. This product liability action arises out of a defective lithium-ion battery manufactured by Respondent LG Chem, Ltd., ("LG") that exploded in Appellant Reid Fleming's pocket and caused him severe injuries. The lower court granted LG's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction.

On April 21, 2021, Fleming filed a complaint against LG, among others, in South Carolina state court. (R. pp. 17-29). Fleming asserted product liability causes of action for strict liability, negligence, breach of express and implied warranties, and unfair trade practices. *Id.*

On July 15, 2021, LG filed a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. (R. pp. 30-32). On January 10, 2022, Fleming filed a memorandum and exhibits in opposition to LG's motion. (R. pp. 71-270). On January 18, 2022, the lower court held a hearing on the motion. (R. p. 537).

On February 7, 2022, the lower court entered an order granting LG's motion. (R. pp. 3-12). On February 17, 2022, Fleming filed a motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 417-26). On February 23,

2022, the lower court denied the motion. (R. pp. 14-16). On March 21, 2022, Fleming filed a notice of appeal from the lower court's orders. (R. p. 1).

On April 19, 2022, Fleming filed a motion to certify this case to the Supreme Court because the lower court's decision is in conflict with five other circuit court orders. (Mot. to Certify). Although LG did not oppose the motion, the Supreme Court denied it on May 17, 2022. (Order).

FACTS

LG lithium-ion batteries are well-known and popular batteries in the e-cigarette and vaping community. (R. p. 21 ¶ 23). Since at least 2016, LG has known that consumers use its lithium-ion batteries in vaping devices and could anticipate that its batteries would be used to power e-cigarette/vaping devices.¹ (R. p. 19 ¶¶ 10.d., 28).

Reid Fleming, a South Carolina citizen, bought LG lithium-ion batteries from Defendants Planet Vape and SCECigarette's retail locations in Charleston, South Carolina, to use in an e-cigarette. (R. p. 21 ¶ 20). The batteries were designed, manufactured, and distributed by LG. (R. p. 21 ¶ 22). On May 24, 2018, one of the LG batteries exploded in Fleming's pocket. (R. p. 22 ¶ 31). He suffered serious burn injuries that required hospitalization and caused permanent physical and mental damage. (R. p. 22 ¶¶ 31-35).

LG is a Korean parent company with various subsidiaries located around the world. (R. pp. 36, 97-99). It maintains five subsidiary companies in the United States, including LG Chem

¹ See, e.g., Lebov, Harrison, *A Darker Shade of Green: Hazards Associated with Lithium Ion Batteries*, 17 J. HIGH TECH. L. 78, 93-94 (2016) (“[C]omputers and cell phones are not the only products that are under fire for malfunctioning li[thium]-ion batteries, as everything from speakers and fax machines to *electronic cigarettes* and ‘hoverboards’ are also in the news.” (emphasis added)); *id.* at 94 n.67 (“When li[thium]-ion batteries malfunction in electronic cigarettes, usually due to incompatible voltages, they have been known to explode and cause horrific burns.”).

America, Inc., which is in the business of sales and trading for LG. (R. pp. 98-99). LG Chem America is authorized to do business in South Carolina. (R. p. 244).

On April 21, 2021, Fleming filed a complaint against LG, The Planet Vape, SCECigarette, and John Doe Distributors #1-3. (R. pp. 17-29). He alleged that LG designed, manufactured, and distributed the battery that injured him, a size 18650 lithium-ion battery. (R. pp. 21, 549). Fleming alleged that LG knew or had reason to know that third parties sold the batteries for use in consumer e-cigarette/vaping devices but did nothing to prevent these sales. (R. pp. 19, 21-22). Against LG, Fleming asserted product liability causes of action for strict liability and negligence, and a cause of action for unfair trade practices. (R. pp. 22-28).

Fleming alleged facts to show specific jurisdiction over LG in South Carolina, including *inter alia* that Fleming bought the battery in South Carolina, LG's size 18650 lithium-ion battery caused tortious injury in South Carolina, LG transacts business in South Carolina by shipping its lithium-ion batteries into South Carolina ports and to South Carolina businesses, and LG expected its batteries to be used in South Carolina. (R. pp. 18-19). Fleming alleged LG's South Carolina contacts relate to his claims. (R. p. 19).

On July 15, 2021, LG filed a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction arguing that neither general² nor specific jurisdiction exist in this case.³ (R. p. 30). When Fleming filed the complaint, South Carolina circuit courts had already denied LG's motions to dismiss for personal jurisdiction in five other lithium-ion battery cases. (R. pp. 19-20). When Fleming filed

² The absence of general jurisdiction is not contested.

³ SCECigarette filed an answer asserting as a defense other Defendants' intervening, superseding, or sole negligence caused Fleming's injuries. (R. p. 40).

the Complaint, LG already consented to jurisdiction over it in the federal District Court of South Carolina in another lithium-ion battery case. (R. p. 20).

LG did not deny that it does business in South Carolina or sells lithium-ion batteries in South Carolina. It did not deny minimum contacts with South Carolina or that it ever sold size 18650 lithium-ion batteries in South Carolina. (R. pp. 46-66). Instead, LG argued that it did not design, manufacture, distribute, or sell a lithium-ion battery to “consumers for use as standalone, replaceable batteries, in South Carolina.” (R. p. 48). LG argued it manufactured lithium-ion batteries for use as “industrial component parts that are designed to be incorporated into battery packs.” (R. pp. 37, 47). In other words, LG argued there is no specific jurisdiction because its product was misused as a product sold on its own rather than sold already incorporated into another product.

Fleming filed a memorandum and exhibits in opposition to LG’s motion. (R. pp. 71-85). Fleming submitted data showing over 900 shipments of LG products into the port of Charleston, South Carolina. (R. pp. 184-243, 292-386).⁴ LG imported 419 shipments of lithium-ion batteries through the port of Charleston, some destined for South Carolina businesses. (R. pp. 243, 292-386).

Fleming submitted an opinion from the Western District of North Carolina showing that LG purposefully served the consumer electronics market with lithium-ion batteries. (R. pp. 159-83) *Celgard, LLC v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, 3:14-cv-00043, 2015 WL 2412467 *1, 25 (W.D.N.C. May 21, 2015) (stating “Celgard supplied LGC . . . with uncoated base films to be used in the production of lithium-ion batteries *for consumer-electronic* (“CE”) products” and quoting LG as saying an

⁴ Because the printed copies of this data contain small print, Appellant suggests the Court review the data in the electronic version of the record on appeal.

injunction would “strip[] Best Buy and Wal-Mart (with respect to *consumer electronics* products) . . . of their ability to provide products containing these batteries to consumers” (emphasis added)).

Fleming submitted numerous opinions from South Carolina circuit courts in LG lithium-ion battery cases where LG lost motions to dismiss for lack of specific jurisdiction. In *Williamson v. Pirates Cove Vapor Lounge, LLC, et. al*, 2019-CP-07-02270 (June 21, 2021), the plaintiff was injured by an LG lithium-ion battery in an e-cigarette. (R. pp. 256-65). As in this case, LG argued that it did not design, manufacture, or sell 18650 lithium-ion batteries as a standalone consumer product. (R. p. 257). The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson denied LG’s motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. (R. pp. 256-65). Judge Jefferson found evidence that LG “markets and sells the subject batteries in the State of South Carolina”, including that LG Chem America imported 984 shipments of LG’s products. (R. p. 262). In *Holtendorff v. Vapor Tek USA, LLC, and LG Chem Ltd.*, 2018-CP-0201518 (May 6, 2020), the Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope denied LG’s motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. (R. pp. 266-67). In *Roberts v. Planet Vape, LLC, et. al*, 2020-CP-10-00912 (Dec. 17, 2020), the Honorable Bentley Price denied LG’s motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. (R. pp. 268-70).

On January 18, 2018, the lower court held a hearing on the motion. (R. p. 537). LG argued mainly that Fleming must show LG itself imported and sold a size 18650 lithium-ion battery to a consumer retailer in South Carolina. LG explained that 18650 merely describes the size of the battery. It “just means the 18 is the 18 millimeters diameter, the 65 millimeters is the length, zero is cylindrical. So that’s a size.” (R. p. 549 Ins. 14-16). The lower court asked LG:

How would your client ever get sued in the United States under your theory that they don’t sell the individual product to an individual but they only sell it to manufacturers who repackage it someplace and then sell it in all the other states?

Basically, they are immune from suit if their product causes harm under your theory.

(R. p. 551). LG answered that because “nothing that LG Chem is doing to supply to be part of this distribution chain”, it should not expect to be sued by an individual consumer that got the product from a third party. (R. pp. 552-53).

Fleming argued that he alleges LG’s failure to “actually take command of their distribution chain.” (R. p. 565). Fleming argued the consumer use of the battery purchased from a third party is a merits defense of product misuse and not a valid basis to deny specific jurisdiction. (R. p. 566). Fleming pointed to LG’s numerous shipments of lithium-ion batteries into South Carolina and said LG’s distinction of only the size 18650 battery “would be like . . . drawing a distinction between light cigarettes and ultra light cigarettes.” (R. p. 568). The point is that Fleming bought and was injured by LG’s battery in South Carolina and LG intended to serve a South Carolina market with lithium-ion batteries such that it should have expected to be subject to suit here for a claim related to a lithium-ion battery. (R. p. 568-70).

On February 7, 2022, the lower court entered an order granting LG’s motion to dismiss. (R. pp. 3-13). The court held Fleming’s complaint did not establish a prima facie case of specific personal jurisdiction because Fleming did not allege LG supplied 18650 lithium-ion batteries for sale and use as a standalone consumer product and, therefore, did not plead a connection between Fleming’s claims and LG’s conduct. (R. p. 6).

The lower court held the evidence Fleming submitted in opposition to LG’s motion did not support specific personal jurisdiction because it did not show that LG imported the specific size 18650 lithium-ion battery into South Carolina for the consumer market. (R. pp. 7-8).

The lower court held that LG’s shipments of products allegedly not the 18650 lithium-ion battery are not suit-related contacts to support specific jurisdiction. (R. pp. 8-9). It cited to *Ford*

Motor Co. v. Mont. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 141 S. Ct. 1017, 1028 (2021), for the proposition that sales of the same model product at issue in the case do support jurisdiction. (R. pp. 8-9).

The lower court held that a stream of commerce theory does not support specific jurisdiction in this case. It found this case factually distinguished from *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 666 S.E.2d 218 (2008), based on its findings that LG did not distribute the size 18650 lithium-ion batteries to South Carolina consumers as a standalone product or to a distributor to supply them to South Carolina consumers as a standalone product. (R. pp. 9-10). The court held that Fleming's purchase of the battery in South Carolina is insufficient evidence because it involves Fleming and not LG's conduct. (R. p. 10).

Finally, the lower court held that, because it found Fleming did not satisfy the power prong, it did not need to address the fairness prong of the jurisdictional analysis. (R. p. 11). However, the court proceeded to state that it is unfair to find specific jurisdiction in this case because LG's South Carolina contacts are not related to Fleming's claims. (R. p. 11).

On February 17, 2022, Fleming filed a motion to reconsider making factual and legal arguments. (R. pp. 417-26). Factually, Fleming argued that he submitted evidence that LG made over fifty shipments of lithium-ion batteries into South Carolina and those records do not establish whether the shipments are a size 18650 because they simply say "LITHIUM ION BATTERY." (R. p. 418). Fleming argued that, regardless of the size, they are all lithium-ion batteries and show LG conducts significant lithium-ion battery business in South Carolina. Fleming argued the court incorrectly held that LG does not manufacture a size 18650 battery for consumers or e-cigarettes, and cited to deposition testimony showing LG supplied a size 18650 battery for an e-cigarette product. (R. pp. 419-20). Fleming argued that LG artfully says it did not design a "standalone,

replaceable” product while knowing that it manufactures a lithium-ion battery for vaping devices. (R. pp. 420-21).

Legally, Fleming challenged all of the lower court’s holdings. As to the prima facie showing of specific jurisdiction, he argued the complaint plainly alleges that LG’s conduct falls within S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-803 and the statute makes no mention of the purpose for which a defendant targeted the forum. (R. pp. 421-22). As to LG’s suit-related contacts, Fleming argued the lower court “radically narrowed” the jurisdictional analysis without legal support by requiring evidence of business activity of the same *size* battery when “a lithium-ion battery is a lithium-ion battery” because the “technology is the same.” (R. pp. 423-24). As to stream of commerce, Fleming argued the holding is based on the inaccurate fact that LG never designed a size 18650 battery for vaping devices. (R. p. 424). Regardless, the legal analysis is flawed because there is no legal requirement for Fleming to show that LG specifically targeted South Carolina with the one battery that harmed him. (R. pp. 424-25). Finally, as to fairness, Fleming argued the result is patently unfair because LG is already litigating these same cases nationwide and in South Carolina. (R. p. 425). The dismissal will mean that LG “cannot be subject to jurisdiction anywhere in the U.S. for these claims because” it allegedly “does not sell these batteries ‘as standalone, replaceable’ power sources”, while Fleming, who bought and was injured by the battery in South Carolina, must litigate in a foreign country and still face the same argument—that LG did not sell it as a standalone, replaceable product. (R. pp. 425-26).

On February 23, 2022, the lower court denied the motion to reconsider without a hearing. (R. pp. 14-16). The order contains only a standard of review section, which is largely federal law on Rule 59(e), and does not include analysis.

On March 21, 2022, Fleming filed a notice of appeal from the lower court’s orders.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The question of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant is one which must be resolved upon the facts of each particular case.” *Cribb v. Spatholt*, 382 S.C. 490, 496, 676 S.E.2d 714, 717 (Ct. App. 2009). “The circuit court’s decision should be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law.” *Id.* at 496, 676 S.E.2d at 717.

ARGUMENT

The lower court erred in accepting LG’s unfounded argument that specific jurisdiction in a product liability action exists only where the specific product model size is sold in the forum state by the manufacturer **and** used in the exact manner intended by the manufacturer. There is no United States Supreme Court, Fourth Circuit, or South Carolina state law that supports the lower court’s holding. Further, and perhaps more importantly, the lower court’s ruling improperly injects merits-based defenses into the specific jurisdiction analysis.

Fleming bought the LG lithium-ion battery in South Carolina. That LG states it did not sell the battery to the retailer who sold it to Fleming is not relevant to specific jurisdiction. Rather, it is the basis of a cross-claim between LG and the retailer or a third-party claim against whoever bought it from LG and allowed it to end up in the hands of the retailer.

Fleming used the battery for the purpose for which it was sold to him and for which LG knew retailers were selling and consumers were using its lithium-ion batteries. That LG alleges this is a misuse goes to the merits of a product liability action and not the exercise of specific jurisdiction. The lower court held that there is no specific jurisdiction because LG allegedly did not intend its batteries for use as a standalone consumer product. This holding effectively makes LG immune from all liability for its lithium-ion batteries exploding and injuring consumers because it could not be subject to specific jurisdiction anywhere for an unintended use of its

product. The lower court improperly converted a specific jurisdiction analysis from being based on the defendant's state conduct to being based on a plaintiff's conduct in using the product. This is not supported by the Constitution or case law.

The specific jurisdiction analysis is relevant to all of the issues on appeal. South Carolina "traditionally" used "a two-step analysis to determine whether specific jurisdiction is proper by 1) determining if the long arm statute applies and 2) determining whether the nonresident's contacts in South Carolina are sufficient to satisfy due process requirements." *Cribb v. Spatholt*, 382 S.C. 490, 498-99, 676 S.E.2d 714, 718-19 (Ct. App. 2009). "However, a more recent trend compresses the analysis into a due process assessment only." *Id.* at 499, 676 S.E.2d at 719. Therefore, the statutory and constitutional requirements are met in South Carolina when the exercise of jurisdiction is consistent with due process.

The due process standard "requires a defendant possess minimum contacts with the forum state such that maintenance of suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice." *Id.* at 499, 676 S.E.2d at 719. To determine whether this standard is satisfied, "[t]he court must (1) find that the defendant has the requisite minimum contacts with the forum, without which, the court does not have the power to adjudicate the action and (2) find the exercise of jurisdiction is reasonable or fair." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). These are referred to as the power and fairness prongs.

Under the power prong, the "minimum contacts analysis requires a court to find that the defendant directed its activities to residents of South Carolina and that the cause of action arises out of or relates to those activities." *Power Prods. & Servs. Co. v. Kozma*, 379 S.C. 423, 432, 665 S.E.2d 660, 665 (Ct. App. 2008). The defendant must "purposefully avail[] itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum state, thus invoking the benefits and protections of its

laws.” *Id.* at 432, 665 S.E.2d at 665. This “‘purposeful availment’ requirement ensures that a defendant will not be haled into a jurisdiction solely as a result of random, fortuitous, or attenuated contacts.” *Id.*

Under the fairness prong, the court considers “the following factors: (1) the duration of the defendant’s activity in this State; (2) the character and circumstances of its acts; (3) the inconvenience to the parties; and (4) the State’s interest in exercising jurisdiction.” *Cribb*, 382 S.C. at 500, 676 S.E.2d at 719.

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