**RECEIVED**

**Feb 01 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000346

---

Reid Fleming..... Appellant

v.

LG Chem, Ltd..... Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

C. Mitchell Brown  
Rachel Atkin Hedley  
A. Mattison Bogan  
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP  
1320 Main Street/17th Floor  
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 799-2000

*Attorneys for Respondent, LG Chem, Ltd.*

**

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

Vague and conclusory allegations cannot support the exercise of jurisdiction. Instead, a plaintiff must allege specific facts to establish the contacts necessary to invoke either general or specific jurisdiction. *See Power Prods.*, 379 S.C. at 433, 434, 436, 665 S.E.2d at 665, 666, 667 (affirming trial court’s dismissal based on lack of personal jurisdiction because plaintiff did not establish facts—either through the complaint or affidavits—to confer jurisdiction). Conclusory allegations will not suffice. *Id.* at 433, 665 S.E.2d at 665, 666; *see also SouthStar Fin. LLC v. T-*

*Zone Health Inc.*, No. 2:21-cv-02511-DCN, 2021 WL 5235223, at \*2 (D.S.C. Nov. 10, 2021) (finding that complaint failed to allege enough facts to support specific personal jurisdiction).

In *Sullivan v. Hawker Beechcraft Corp.*, 397 S.C. 143, 723 S.E.2d 835, 838 (Ct. App. 2012), the complaint alleged that the court had personal jurisdiction based on the same kind of allegations as found in Appellant's complaint:

[E]ach [defendant] has caused tortious injury within this State as set forth herein, and each regularly does or solicits business, or engages in a persistent course of conduct or derives substantial revenue from goods used or consumed or services rendered in this State as contemplated under the statute.

*Id.* at 148, 723 S.E.2d at 835. The South Carolina Court of Appeals held that, even with a liberal construction of the statute and the complaint, the plaintiff had “failed to allege any facts that show that [the defendants] (1) have regular transactions of business or solicitation, (2) engage in a persistent course of conduct, (3) derive substantial revenue, or (4) consume goods or services rendered in South Carolina.” *Id.* at 151, 723 S.E.2d at 839 (emphasis added).

In *Sonoco Products Co. v. ACE INA Insurance*, 877 F. Supp. 2d 398, 407 (D.S.C. 2012), the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina dismissed a case against a Canadian insurance company for lack of jurisdiction. Applying the same legal standard as South Carolina state courts (by construing the allegations in the light most favorable to plaintiff, drawing all inferences and resolving all factual disputes in its favor), the court held that the plaintiffs “offer nothing more than a conclusory statement to show that ACE INA solicited business in South Carolina.” *Id.* at 407 (citing *Masselli & Lane, PC v. Miller & Schuh, PA*, 215 F.3d 1320 (Table) (4th Cir. 2000), for the proposition that a court need not “credit conclusory allegations” when deciding whether a plaintiff makes a prima facie showing of personal jurisdiction).

Here, the bulk of Appellant’s jurisdictional allegations contained boilerplate legal conclusions matching the language of the long-arm statute.<sup>3</sup> (R. p. 18.) Appellant made no allegations about 18650 lithium-ion batteries specifically, but alleged only that LG Chem delivers and distributes “lithium ion battery products” to South Carolina companies and through the ports of South Carolina and that LG Chem “has known” since 2016 that individuals use LG Chem’s lithium ion battery products to power devices such as flashlights and personal vaporizing devices. Appellant did not make any specific allegations that would show either contacts of LG Chem with South Carolina related to the particular product at issue in this case or how those contacts might possibly relate to Appellant’s claims in this case.

Based on these insufficiently specific allegations, the circuit court acted well within its authority by looking beyond the pleadings to the extrinsic evidence offered by both parties.

**C. The circuit court’s Order is supported by uncontroverted evidence.**

Appellant argues that the circuit court erred by weighing evidence in LG Chem’s favor and misconstruing evidence as “uncontroverted” when it was not. This is incorrect.

LG Chem’s evidence that it never designated, manufactured, distributed, advertised or sold 18650 lithium-ion battery cells for sale to consumers as standalone, replaceable batteries is uncontroverted. (R. pp. 37-38.) Appellant did not plead contrary facts, and Appellant did not introduce any evidence to controvert LG Chem’s admissible evidence on this point.

With regard to the import charts, Appellant argues that the lower court should have found that Appellant met his burden of proof by submitting exhibits of spreadsheets that purportedly

---

<sup>3</sup> See, e.g., R. p. 18 “LG Chem Ltd.’s products . . . cause tortious injury or death in South Carolina by acts or omissions occurring outside the state under circumstances where LG Chem Ltd. regularly does or solicits business, engages in other persistent conduct and/or derives substantial revenue from goods used or consumed or services rendered in the state of South Carolina.”

showed shipments by LG Chem through a South Carolina port. Appellant also appears to argue that evidence of LG Chem's subsidiary's certificate of authority in South Carolina met his burden. Neither argument is correct. The spreadsheets are unauthenticated and inadmissible hearsay, and even if they were admissible, which they are not, they do not show that Appellant's claims arise out of or relate to those shipments or the subsidiary's certificate.

The circuit court properly considered the evidence and concluded that the facts submitted did not support Appellant's burden. LG Chem's counsel pointed out at the hearing that the charts were searchable, that the only entries showing any type of lithium ion battery going to South Carolina was going to a car manufacturer, and the charts only appeared to show one shipment of 18650 cells, which was going to a battery packer in Long Beach, California. (R. pp. 545-46, 574; R. p. 440 (correcting record to explain there appeared to be two shipments to the packer in California.) Further, LG Chem introduced evidence showing that, of the 13 shipments that were described as "lithium ion batteries" (only one of which occurred prior to the date of Appellant's alleged incident), not a single shipment involved 18650 lithium ion cells (R. p. 274.).<sup>4</sup> Appellant offered nothing to contradict that evidence.

It was only *after* the circuit court rendered its decision that Appellant submitted the charts in native excel format for the Court's review and argued that the record did not support one way

---

<sup>4</sup> Mr. Lee was a knowledgeable witness who set forth concrete and specific facts in his Affidavit. In particular, Mr. Lee attested that he worked at LG Chem for five years before LG Chem spun its battery business off in December 2020 and that his area of job responsibility included sales of battery packs and small application battery cells, including 18650 cylindrical lithium ion battery cells. Mr. Lee attested to the specific purpose for which LG Chem designed, manufactured, and sold its 18650 battery cells and specifically attested that LG Chem never did any business with the retailers that sold 18650 battery cells to Plaintiff as standalone consumer products and never authorized anyone to supply its 18650 cells to individual consumers as a standalone, replaceable battery. (R. p. 36.) In his Reply affidavit offered in response to Appellant's 59 pages of "import records", Mr. Lee further attested that not a single one of the entries on those 59 pages reflected shipment of 18650 lithium-ion cells to anyone in South Carolina. (R. p. 274.)

or the other whether or not the “lithium ion battery” shipments to South Carolina were “similar” to the product at issue. (R. p. 418.) This argument was untimely and therefore waived even if it had been correct, which it was not, because (1) LG Chem’s admissible evidence explained that the shipments were not 18650 cells and (2) it appeared on the face of the evidence that Appellant submitted that the shipments were going to a car manufacturer. The circuit court was entitled to conclude that Appellant’s import charts (even if they had been admissible) could not support a finding that LG Chem had directed activities to South Carolina that were related to Appellant’s claim for injury allegedly resulting from use of an LG 18650 lithium-ion cell as a standalone, replaceable battery that he bought from a vape store to power his e-cigarette device.

Therefore, contrary to Appellant’s argument, the circuit court did not improperly weigh evidence in LG Chem’s favor. The circuit court did not need to weigh evidence, when Appellant offered nothing to contradict LG Chem’s admissible evidence. The argument of counsel that he did not know what the charts meant does not constitute contrary evidence.

Further, the spreadsheets attached to Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration were unauthenticated and inadmissible hearsay. *See* SCRE 901 & Note (citing *State v. Jeffcoat*, 279 S.C. 167, 303 S.E.2d 855 (1983)) (“Even when evidence is properly authenticated, it must still be admissible under the other rules of evidence.”); *State v. Anderson*, 386 S.C. 120, 126, 687 S.E.2d 35, 38 (2009) (“The analysis regarding the admissibility . . . involves a two-prong approach. . . . If a hearsay exception is applicable, then the next consideration in assessing admissibility is authentication.”). Beyond a lack of foundation and authentication, the exhibits to Appellant’s affidavits and memorandum are inadmissible hearsay even if they were relevant, which they are not. Thus, relying on Appellant’s exhibits would be error, even if they supported his position, which they did not. *See Yarborough & Co. v. Schoolfield Furniture Indus., Inc.*, 275 S.C. 151, 153,

268 S.E.2d 42, 43 (1980) (finding that the court lacked personal jurisdiction and stating that plaintiff's counsel's affidavits were "conclusory in nature and based almost entirely on hearsay. We hold that they should have been excluded from the trial court's consideration"). Appellant did not address or otherwise contest in the lower court, or this Court, that his exhibits were inadmissible, and the inadmissibility of the exhibits remains uncontested.

With regard to LG Chem's subsidiary, LGCAI, Appellant argues that the lower court incorrectly held that he must show that the South Carolina contacts of LG Chem's subsidiary "could be legally imputed to LG Chem for those contacts to matter in this case" (citing Order at 5). The quote was taken out of context, as that paragraph of the Order was clearly addressing Appellant's own arguments from below that LGCAI's Certificate of Authority to do business in South Carolina and alleged shipping products through South Carolina were evidence that LG Chem itself had contacts with this State. For that to be a valid argument, Appellant would have had to meet a heavy burden to show that LGCAI is an alter ego of LG Chem for purposes of imputing contacts, and Appellant provided no facts whatsoever in response to LG Chem's evidence that there were none. (R. p. 273; *see also Black Magic, LLC v. Hartford Fin. Servs. Grp., Inc.*, No. 2:20-CV-1743-BHH, 2021 WL 964969, at \*5 (D.S.C. Mar. 15, 2021); *J.R. v. Walgreens Boots All., Inc.*, 470 F. Supp. 3d 534, 549 (D.S.C. 2020); *Fitzhenry v. One on One Mktg. LLC*, No. 2:14-CV-4782-DCN, 2015 WL 4459023, at \*5 (D.S.C. July 21, 2015).

Finally, Appellant argued that the circuit court should follow the decisions of five other trial courts that had denied similar motions to dismiss, based on similar evidence. LG Chem showed that those decisions were contrary to law and were not supported by the evidence introduced in those cases. For example, the record in two of the cases, *Williamson v. Pirates Cove Vapor Lounge, LLC, et al.*, 2019-CP-07-02270 and *Roberts v. Planet Vape, et al.*, 2020-CP-10-

00912,<sup>5</sup> included admissible evidence, which those circuit courts failed to consider, showing that LGCAI never sold 18650 battery cells (or any type of lithium ion batteries) to *anyone* in South Carolina (let alone consumer retail vape stores). (R. pp. 395, 408-416.) And yet, Appellant relied on those cases to argue that LGCAI had distributed LG Chem’s 18650 lithium ion batteries into South Carolina, which was not accurate. And a review of the entries on the import charts Appellant offered in opposition to LG Chem’s motion to dismiss plainly showed that LGCAI was not involved in a single shipment of any “lithium ion battery” to South Carolina; instead, LGCAI was only involved in shipments of petrochemical products. (R. p. 274.) Therefore, Appellant’s argument that the circuit court ignored evidence that LG Chem had a subsidiary (LGCAI) that distributed its lithium ion battery cells (including 18650) in South Carolina is both legally unsound and factually contradicted by the evidence. *See also Durham v. LG Chem, Ltd. et al*, No. 1:20-CV-01277-SDG, 2021 WL 1573899, at \*2 (N.D. Ga. Apr. 22, 2021) *consolidated appeal filed* (dismissing LG Chem, Ltd. from five Georgia lawsuits for lack of personal jurisdiction and declining to transfer cases to other jurisdictions based on the plaintiffs’ failure to establish personal jurisdiction in the transferee forums, the court also recognized that the plaintiffs in those cases had voluntarily dismissed LGCAI with prejudice because LGCAI “did not sell, manufacture, or distribute the batteries at issue in this litigation during the relevant time period.”) (R. p. 441.)

As such, the circuit court in this case properly considered the evidence and concluded that Appellant had not offered any evidence to support a finding that LG Chem created contacts with South Carolina related in any way to his claims.

---

<sup>5</sup> After the circuit court denied LG Chem, Ltd.’s and LG Chem America, Inc.’s motions to dismiss in that case, the plaintiff voluntarily dismissed his claims against these entities after determining, based on review of CT scans, that the 18650 lithium-ion cell at issue in that case had not been manufactured by LG Chem, Ltd., but rather was a counterfeit cell that had been disguised by an unidentified third party to appear as an LG 18650 cell when it was not.

**D. Appellant waived any argument for jurisdictional discovery.**

To the extent Appellant may attempt to argue in his reply brief that the circuit court should have allowed him the opportunity to conduct jurisdictional discovery, that argument is waived.

*First*, the issue was not raised in his Initial Brief, and any argument not raised or argued in Appellant’s initial brief is abandoned. *See Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 692 (Ct. App. 2001) (“[E]ven though [Appellant] more fully addressed the issue in its reply brief, an argument made in a reply brief cannot present an issue to the appellate court if it was not addressed in the initial brief. Accordingly, we find that [Appellant’s] argument was not properly presented to this Court and is deemed abandoned.”); *Jackson v. Bi-Lo Stores, Inc.*, 313 S.C. 272, 277, 437 S.E.2d 168, 171 (Ct. App. 1993) (“ ‘[T]hese arguments are not properly before this Court because an appellant cannot make new arguments for reversal in a reply brief.’ ”); see also, *State v. Hewins*, 409 S.C. 93, 118 n. 9, 760 S.E.2d 814, 827 n. 9 (2014) (Pleicones, J., concurring) (“It is well settled appellants may not make new arguments for reversal in their reply brief.”).

*Second*, Appellant did not request jurisdictional discovery before the Court ruled on LG Chem’s Motion to Dismiss. As the lower court correctly stated, “[i]mportantly, a motion for reconsideration is not a vehicle . . . ‘to raise argument or present evidence that could have been presented prior to the entry of judgment.’ ” (R. p. 15) (citing *Dash v. Mayweather*, No. C/A 3:10-1036-JFA, 2010 WL 3606829, at \*1 (D.S.C. Sept. 13, 2010) (quoting *Exxon Shipping Co. v. Baker*, 554 U.S. 471, n.5 (2008) (alterations added))). See also *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 399, 608 S.E.2d 849, 854 (2005) (finding that party’s failure to raise an alternate remedy was not preserved because it was first raised in a Rule 59 motion); *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 566–67, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014) (finding that it was error for the

court of appeals to consider an argument that was improperly raised for the first time in a Rule 59(e) motion to amend judgment after trial court granted partial summary judgment in favor of plaintiff); *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”). Therefore, Appellant waived any request for jurisdictional discovery by failing to raise it until after the lower court had already issued an order dismissing the case.

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